IN THE

#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,865

TODD MICHAEL MENDYK,

Appellant,

v.

D

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

SUSAN HUGINS ELSASS Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 0854573

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

9

0

6

0

•

0

0

0

Adams v. State, 412 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 1982)
<u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u> , 470 U.S. 68, 105 S. Ct. 1087 (1985)
<u>Alcorta v. Texas</u> , 355 U.S. 28 (1957)
<u>Alford v. State</u> , 307 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 1975),
Allett v. Hill, 422 So. 2d 1047 (4th DCA 1982)
<u>Arango v. State</u> , 467 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 1985)
<u>Arizona v. Fulminante</u> , 111 S. Ct. 1246 (1991)
<u>Arizona v. Roberson</u> , 486 U.S. 675 (1988)
Banda v. State 536 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1988)
Barton v. State, 193 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968)
Bassett v. State, 541 So. 2d 596 (Fla. 1989)
Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980)
Bello v. State, 547 So. 2d 914 (Fla. 1989)
Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78 (1935)
Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63 (1977)
Blake v. Kemp, 758 F.2d 523 (11th Cir. 1985)
Blake v. State, 156 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 1963)
Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496, 108 S. Ct. 2529 (1987)
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)

.

Bridges v. State, 466 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985)
Brooks v. Kemp, 762 F.2d 1383 (11th Cir. 1985) (en banc)
<u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u> , 472 U.S. 320, 105 S. Ct. 2633 (1985)6, 56, 79, 80, 83
<u>Caraway v. Beto</u> , 421 F.2d 636 (5th Cir. 1970)
<u>Cervi v. Kemp</u> , 855 F.2d 702 (11th Cir. 1988)
<u>Chambers v. Armontrout</u> , 907 F.2d 825 (8th Cir. 1990) (en banc)
<u>Chapman v. California,</u> 386 U.S. 18, 87 S. Ct. 824 (1967)
<u>Colina v. State,</u> 570 so.2d 929 (Fla. 1990)
<u>Cochran v. State</u> , 547 so. 2d 528 (Fla. 1989)
<u>Cunningham v. Zant</u> , 928 F.2d 1006 (11th Cir. 1991)32, 33, 45, 55, 64
<u>Czubak v. State</u> , 570 so. 2d 925 (Fla. 1990)
<u>Davis v. Alabama</u> , 596 F.2d 1214 (5th Cir. 1979), <u>vacated as moot</u> , 446 U.S. 903 (1980)
<u>Davis v. Alaska</u> , 415 U.S. 308, 316-17 (1974)
<u>Derrick v. State</u> , 16 F.L.W. 221 (Fla. Mar. 21, 1991) 61
Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637 (1974)
<u>Dougan v. State</u> , 470 so. 2d 697 (Fla. 1985)
<u>Drake v. Kemp</u> , 762 F.2d 1449 (11th Cir. 1985)(en banc)
Dunkins v. Thigpen, 854 F. 2d 394 (11th Cir. 1988) 8, 63
Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982)
Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981)

Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F. 2d 1439 (11th Cir. 1987)
Elledge v. State, 346 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 1988)
Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501 (1976)
Evans v. Lewis, 855 F.2d 631 (9th Cir. 1988)
Ferry v. State,           507 So. wd 1373 (Fla. 1987)
Foster v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 402 (11th Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1241 (1988)
Francis v. Spraggins, 720 F. 2d 1190 (11th Cir. 1983)
<u>Furman v. Georgia</u> , 408 U.S. 238 (1972)
Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349 (1977)
Gardner v. State, 480 So. 2d 91 (Fla. 1985)
<u>Garron v. Bergstrom</u> , 453 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 1984)
Garron v. State, 528 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1988)
Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972)
<u>Goodwin v. Balkcom</u> , 684 F.2d 794 (11th Cir. 1982)
<u>Gorham v. State</u> , 521 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Gregg v. Georgia</u> , 428 U.S. 153 (1976)
<u>Griffin v. California</u> , 380 U.S. 609 (1965)
Hall v. Haddock, 573 So. 2d 149 (Fla. 1 DCA 1991)
<u>Hall v. State</u> , 541 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 1989)
Hallman v. State, 560 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 1990)

<u>Hamilton v. State</u> , 547 So. 2d 630 (Fla. 1989)
<u>Harding v. Davis,</u> 878 F.2d 1341 (11th Cir. 1989)
Harich v. State, 437 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1983), <u>cert. denied</u> , 465 U.S. 1051 (1984)
<u>Harris v. Dugger</u> , 874 F.2d 756 (11th Cir. 1989)
<u>Harrison v. Jones</u> , 880 F.2d 1279 (11th Cir. 1989) passim
Heiney v. Dugger, 558 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 1990)
Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S. Ct. 1821 (1987) passim
Hoffman v. State, 571 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 1990)
Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560 (1986)
Holland v. State, 503 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1987)
<u>In re Winship</u> , 397 U.S. 358 (1970)
<u>Jackson v. Dugger</u> , 837 F.2d 1469 (11th Cir. 1988)
<u>Jones v. State</u> , 569 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1990)
<u>King v. State</u> , 514 So. 2d 354 (Fla. 1987)
<u>King v. Strickland,</u> 714 F.2d 1481 (11th Cir. 1983), <u>adhered to on remand</u> , 748 F.2d 1462 (11th Cir. 1984) 49, 50
Lane v. State, 388 So. 2d 1022 (Fla. 1980)
Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986) 8, 9, 31, 47, 49
<u>Lesko v. Lehman</u> , 925 F.2d 1527 (3rd Cir. 1991)
Lewis v. Jeffers, 110 S. Ct. 3092 (1990)
<u>Leyra v. Denno</u> , 347 U.S. 556 (1954)

D

Þ

D

D

٦

Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989)
Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978)
Lowenfield v. Phelps, 108 S. Ct. 546 (1988)
Lyons v. Oklahoma, 322 U.S. 596 (1944)
Mann v. Dugger, 844 F.2d 1446 (11th Cir. 1988)(en banc), <u>cert</u> . <u>denied</u> , 109 S. Ct. 1353 (1989)
<u>Mason v. State</u> , 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986)
<u>Mathews v. Eldridge</u> , 425 U.S. 319, (1976)
<u>Maynard v. Cartwright</u> , 108 S. Ct. 1853 (1988)
<u>Mazzarra v. State</u> , 437 So. 2d 716 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983)
Mendyk v. Florida, 110 S. Ct. 520 (1989)
Mendyk v. State,           545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989)
Mendyk v. State,
Mendyk v. State,         545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989)         Miami Herald Pub. Co. v. City of North Miami,         452 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 3 DCA 1984), cause remanded
Mendyk v. State,         545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989)         Miami Herald Pub. Co. v. City of North Miami,         452 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 3 DCA 1984), cause remanded         and approved, 468 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1985)         Miller v. Fenton
Mendyk v. State,       545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989)
Mendyk v. State,       545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989)
Mendyk v. State,       545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989)
Mendyk v. State,       545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989)
Mendyk v. State,         545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989)         Miami Herald Pub. Co. v. City of North Miami,         452 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 3 DCA 1984), cause remanded         and approved, 468 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1985)         Miller v. Fenton         474 U.S. 104 (1985)         Miller v. Pate,         386 U.S. 1 (1967)         386 U.S. 1 (1967)         Mills v. Dugger,         559 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1990)         Mills v. Maryland,         108 S. Ct. 1860 (1988)         Minnick v. Mississippi,         111 S. Ct. 486 (1990)         Mooney v. Holohan,

<u>Nero v. Blackburn</u> , 597 F.2d 991 (5th Cir. 1979)
Nixon v. Newsome, 888 F.2d 112 (11th Cir. 1989)
<u>Norris v. Risley</u> , 918 F.2d 828 (9th Cir. 1990)
<u>Nowitzke v. State</u> , 572 So. 2d 1346 (Fla. 1990)
<u>O'Callaghan v. State,</u> 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984)
<u>Osborn v. Shillinger,</u> 861 F.2d 612 (10th Cir. 1988)
Penry v. Lynaugh, 109 S. Ct. 2934 (1989)
Pinnell v. Cauthron, 540 F.2d 938 (8th Cir. 1976)
Pope v. State, 441 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 1983)
Pridgen v. State, 531 So. 2d 951 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Proffitt v. State</u> , 510 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1987)
<u>Provenzano v. Dugger,</u> 561 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 1990)
Rembert v. State 445 So. 2d 337 (Fla. 1984)
<u>Rhodes v. State</u> , 547 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1989)
<u>Robinson v. State</u> , 520 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1988)
Rog <mark>ers v. State</mark> , 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987)
<u>Roman v. State,</u> 528 so. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1988)
Rose v. State, 425 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1982), <u>cert. denied</u> , 471 U.S. 1143 (1985)
<u>Sheppard v. Rees</u> , 909 F.2d 1234 (9th Cir. 1990)
<u>Sielaff v. Williams,</u> 423 U.S. 876 (1975)

۲

Đ

D

<u>Smith v. McCormick</u> , 914 F.2d 1153 (9th Cir. 1990)
<u>South Carolina v. Gathers</u> , 109 S. Ct 2207 (1989)
<u>Spain v. Rushen</u> , 883 F. 2d 712 (9th Cir. 1989)
<u>Spano v. People of New York</u> , 360 U.S. 315 (1959)
<u>Stano v. Dugger</u> , 901 F.2d 898 (11th Cir. 1990)(en banc) 62
<u>State v. Dixon</u> , 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973)
<u>State v. Kokal</u> , 562 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 1990)
<u>State v. Michael</u> , 530 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1988)
<u>State v. Sireci</u> , 502 so. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1987)
<u>Stephens v. Kemp</u> , 846 F.2d 642 (11th Cir. 1988)
<u>Stevens v. State</u> , 552 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1989)
<u>Straight v. State</u> , 397 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 1981)
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
<u>Tedder v. State</u> , 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975)
<u>Thomas v. Kemp</u> , 796 F.2d 1322 (11th Cir. 1986)
<u>Thomas v. State</u> , 59 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1952)
Towne v. Duqger, 899 F. 2d 1104 (11th Cir. 1990) 61
<u>Trawick v. State</u> , 473 So. 2d 1235 (Fla 1985)
<u>Tyler v. Kemp</u> , 755 F.2d 741 (11th Cir. 1985)
<u>United States v. Agurs</u> , 427 U.S. 97 (1976)
<u>United States v. Anderson</u> , 929 F. 2d 96 (2d Cir. 1991)

United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 105 S. Ct. 3375 (1985) 10, 29, 30
United States v. Beros, 833 F.2d 455 (3rd Cir. 1987)
United States v. Bosch, 584 F.2d 1113 (1st Cir. 1978)
United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S. Ct. 2039 (1984)
United States v. Edwards, 488 F.2d 1154 (5th Cir. 1974)
<u>United States v. Fessel</u> , 531 F.2d 1278 (5th Cir. 1976)
<u>United States v. Gipson</u> , 553 F.2d 453 (5th Cir. 1977)
<u>United States v. Payseno</u> , 782 F.2d 832 (9th Cir. 1986)
United States v. Rodriguez, 765 F.2d 1546 (11th Cir. 1985)
United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1 (1985)
United States ex rel. Williams v Twomey, 510 F.2d 634 (7th Cir.), cert. denied sub nom., 423 U.S. 876 (1975)
Vela v. Estelle, 708 F.2d 954 (5th Cir. 1983)
Wainwright v. Turner,           389 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1980)
<u>Walls v. State</u> , 16 F.L.W. 254 (Fla. Apr. 11, 1991) 62, 63
<u>Walton v. Arizona</u> , 110 S. Ct. 3047 (1990)
<u>Waterhouse v. State</u> , 522 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1988)
<u>White v. State</u> 403 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1981)
<u>Wilson v. Kemp</u> , 777 F.2d 621 (11th Cir. 1985)
<u>Woods v. Dugger</u> , 923 F. 2d 1454 (11th Cir. 1991)
Young v. State, 234 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1970)

•

Zant v. Stephens,																							
462 U.S. 862	(1983)	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	74

D

xiv

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Mendyk was indicted by a grand jury for first-degree murder on April 16, 1987, in the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Hernando County. On May 4, 1987, an information was filed charging Mr. Mendyk with one count of kidnapping and two counts of sexual battery involving physical force. Mr. Mendyk entered a plea of not guilty. On October 8, 1987, Mr. Mendyk's trial commenced before the Honorable L. R. Huffstetler, Jr.

The trial date was moved up eleven days from the October 19, 1987 trial setting. This change in scheduling occurred three days before the trial began on October 8th. Defense counsel, Alan Fanter, objected and asked that trial be continued until October 19, 1987, because assigned co-counsel, Charlie Vaughn, was conducting another trial and would be unavailable until that trial was completed. Mr. Fanter observed that Mr. Vaughn would be conducting the penalty phase and would be done with his other trial by the time Mr. Mendyk's penalty phase began. (R. 2). However, according to Mr. Fanter, Mr. Vaughn's presence at voir dire was critical so that he could have input and so the jury would not be confused when "three days in[to] the trial, all of a sudden [we] have a new attorney." (R. 3). The State responded "the only reason [Mr. Fanter] wanted Charlie Vaughn here was for Charlie Vaughn to learn how to try these kind of cases. And the people of the State of Florida don't have the time and the money to hold this trial up a few days so that the Public Defender's Office can conduct an educational seminar for Charlie Vaughn." (R. 4).

Mr. Fanter also argued for a continuance because the defense had been unable to investigate <u>Williams</u> rule evidence purportedly being introduced through Mr. Cousins, a prisoner then incarcerated in South Carolina. To this the prosecutor responded:

As to the second reason for a continuance, all witnesses known to the state have been listed on the witness list and filed with the Public Defender's Office. We do not intend to call Mr. Cousins, who was the only witness that I've interviewed that knows anything about what happened in South Carolina. Now, Mr. Cousins has been known to the Public Defender's Office since September the 21st or 22nd.

If the Public Defender's Office has failed to prepare for trial by failing to go to South carolina when they should have, then that's their problem, not ours. We have not withheld any witnesses or any evidence,

certainly not wilfully and I know of nobody else in South Carolina or anywhere else that has any relevant information about this case. If I did, I would have interviewed them and listed them as a witness.

(R. 5). The prosecutor explained Cousins would not testify at the guilt phase, but might be called at the penalty phase.

Mr. Fanter responded:

Now, if I'm going through phase one and all of a sudden they bring it in and say ten days has gone by and we're going to use this guy, I've accomplished nothing and this Court has prevented me from preparing my defense. You know, if they're going to spring that on us, he's not going to use him in two phase, say it now, exclude that testimony or I need to go up to South Carolina.

(R. 7). Thereupon the judge denied the continuance "since the Judge [presiding over Mr. Vaughn's other case] determined that his trial was more important than Mr.
Vaughn's assistance over here with you, I'm going to deny your motion." (R. 8).

Pursuant to a motion for a change of venue the case was tried in Lake County, Florida. During the guilt phase, Mr. Fanter conceded Mr. Mendyk was guilty of kidnapping which was tantamount to conceding first degree murder. (R. 1161). Mr. Fanter argued to the jury that his client, Mr. Mendyk, should "rot in jail" for life. (R. 1163). Not surprisingly, a guilty verdict was entered on October 19, 1987. While the guilt phase was being conducted Mr. Mendyk expressed suicidal ideation in jail which prompted the administration of psychotropic medication. (PC 713). Neither defense counsel nor the trial court were advised of this medication in order to consider if Mr. Mendyk was still competent to proceed.

The penalty phase was conducted on October 20, 1987, with Mr. Vaughn representing Mr. Mendyk. The prosecuting attorney, Mr. Hogan, proffered Mr. Cousins' testimony. The proffer contained false evidence. It was contrary to Mr. Cousins' guilty plea, his prior sworn statement and all of the evidence in existence in South Carolina. Since Mr. Vaughn had not investigated the matter, and received no discovery, he was ignorant of the falsity of the proffered testimony.<sup>1</sup> Mr. Hogan

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Mr. Hogan also failed to disclose that he had promised Mr. Cousins use immunity:

Cousin wanted to know what guarantees he had that he could not be further prosecuted for the information he had to tell. Assistant State Attorney Tom Hogan then wrote a short statement that was signed by all parties sitting in the room. This statement assured Cousin that

announced he would not present the highly prejudicial testimony of Mr. Cousins which was to the effect that Mr. Mendyk had planned a prior murder as part of a Satanic ritual. However, Mr. Hogan reserved the right to recall Mr. Cousins later in the day after Mr. Mendyk had rested. Defense counsel presented no evidence in Mr. Mendyk's behalf. The jury then retired and returned a death recommendation. Mr. Mendyk was sentenced on November 10, 1987, and the judge's sentencing order was entered the same day.

Mr. Mendyk appealed his convictions and sentence. His conviction and sentence were affirmed. Error was found to have occurred at the penalty phase in the introduction of pornographic magazines seized at Mr. Mendyk's home. However this Court said the error, standing alone, was harmless. <u>Mendyk v. State</u>, 545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989). On November 27, 1989, certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court. <u>Mendyk v. Florida</u>, 110 S. Ct. 520 (1989). On October 19, 1990, Mr. Mendyk's petition for clemency was denied and his death warrant was signed. On November 6, 1990, due to the exigencies of the situation, Mr. Mendyk filed a pro forma petition for extraordinary relief and for a writ of habeas corpus, seeking leave to amend. Mr. Mendyk's execution was stayed by this Court on November 26, 1990; the Court then ordered that Mr. Mendyk's post-conviction pleadings be filed by January 25, 1991. Mr. Mendyk timely filed his Rule 3.850 Motion in circuit court; the State's Response was filed February 6, 1991. Pursuant to Mr. Mendyk's Motion to Disqualify, filed on January 31, 1991, the Honorable Richard Tombrink, Jr. entered his recusal on February 8, 1991.

The Honorable Victor J. Musleh entered an Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Post Conviction Relief on March 11, 1991. Mr. Mendyk filed his Motion for Rehearing on March 20, 1991. His motion was denied on April 18, 1991. Defendant's Notice of Appeal was timely filed on April 29, 1991.

(PC 729).

all information obtained from him would be used in the prosecution of Todd Mendyk. The statement further indicated that Cousin would not be prosecuted by the State of Florida or by the State of South Carolina for any additional information he gave us in connection with the homicide of Thomas Fisher.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The trial court erred in summarily denying Mr. Mendyk's 3.850 motion without ordering an evidentiary hearing and without ordering compliance with Chapter 119. The trial court erred by failing to attach the portions of the record that support its summary denial. Under this Court's case law, an evidentiary hearing was required on the 3.850 motion, because the files and records do not conclusively establish that Mr. Mendyk is not entitled to relief.

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