IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

JUN 24 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

TODD MICHAEL MENDYK,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 77,865

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #618550 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

principle of law that was relied upon in rejecting original claim on appeal). Indeed, the situation in *Minnick* is not even present in the instant case as Mendyk did not consult an attorney prior to making a statement, so it thus remains a pure *Edwards* reinitiation issue.

Even if the instant claim was cognizable relief is not warranted as this court did not even address the merits of the claim, but simply found that even if error had occurred, it was harmless at worst. *Mendyk v. State*, 545 So.2d 846 (Fla. 1989). Thus, even re-reviewing the claim would not merit a new trial. Since the claim is procedurally barred, and this court has already determined that the admission of the confession, even if error, was harmless, the trial court properly found that neither a hearing nor relief was warranted.

In Argument VIII, Mendyk claims that defense counsel was ineffective in not objecting to prosecutorial comment during guilt phase closing argument. In Claim V of his motion for post conviction relief, Mendyk argued that the prosecutor's comments rendered his conviction and sentence fundamentally unfair (PC 43-47), and included a one sentence allegation that counsel's failure to object was ineffective assistance (PC 47). The trial court found that the claim was procedurally barred, that fundamental error had not been demonstrated, and that the one sentence allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel was legally insufficient as prejudice had not been demonstrated (PC 1353). This ruling is correct.

This court has consistently found that such claims could and should be raised on direct appeal and are thus procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1990); Roberts, supra; Kelley v. State, 569 So.2d 754 (Fla. 1990); Buenoano v. Dugger, 559 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 1990); Atkins v. Dugger, 541 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1989). While Mendyk attempted to couch his claim in terms of fundamental error, this court has stated that this is not an "open sesame" for trial errors not properly preserved. Smith v. State, 240 So.2d 807, 810 (Fla. 1970). Fundamental error is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action. Further, prosecutorial error alone will not warrant automatic reversal of a conviction unless the errors involved are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be treated as harmless. State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984). Mendyk failed to demonstrate that the limited comments during guilt phase closing argument were even erroneous, much less that they warranted the granting of a new trial. At worst, even if some of the comments went beyond the limits of proper argument, any error was harmless at worst, and certainly not fundamental. Id. The evidence against Mendyk was overwhelming.

Mendyk's attempt at casting this claim under the guise of ineffective assistance is likewise unavailing. A procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwise-barred claims in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Kight, supra*. As the trial court found, a one sentence allegation with no demonstration of prejudice is legally insufficient. *See, Kennedy,* supra (a defendant must allege facts that demonstrate a deficiency on the part of counsel which is detrimental to the defendant); Roberts, supra; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1986). Any additional allegations presented in the instant brief must be found waived as they were never presented to the trial court. Doyle v. State, 526 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1988) (a claim not presented to the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of post conviction relief).

Even if the claim of ineffective assistance was cognizable, relief is not warranted. Where the remarks of a prosecutor in closing are not so improper and prejudicial as to cause a mistrial, defense counsel is not ineffective for failing to object to such, but rather the decision to object is a matter of trial strategy left to the discretion of the trial attorney so long as his performance was within the range of what is expected of reasonably competent counsel. *Muhammed v. State*, 426 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1982). Since this claim is procedurally barred and alternatively without merit, the trial court properly determined that neither a hearing nor relief was warranted.

In Argument IX, Mendyk claims that his conviction and sentence resulted from proceedings which did not provide for a unanimous vote by the jury as to whether he was guilty of premeditated or felony murder, and that counsel's failure to raise this fundamental error was ineffective assistance (IB 66-68). This was presented in Claim XVII of Mendyk's motion for post conviction relief (PC 184-96), and as in the other claims there was a one sentence allegation that counsel's failure to object was deficient performance (PC 196). The trial court found that the claim was procedurally barred, that Mendyk's conclusory allegation that counsel was ineffective was legally insufficient, and alternatively, that the instructions were proper and counsel's failure to object was not a serious deficiency (PC 1359). This ruling is correct.

A claim of error regarding jury instructions should be raised on direct appeal and is not cognizable through collateral attack. Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067, 1070 (Fla. 1988). Α procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwisebarred claims in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. Further, the instructions Mendyk claims were Kight, supra. deficient were the standard instructions on first degree murder under the premeditated and felony-murder theories. A reading of the transcript reveals that the jury was instructed that its verdict must be unanimous (R 1185, 1186). As the trial court sentence allegation that counsel Mendyk's one was found. ineffective for failing to object is legally insufficient as it neither alleges nor demonstrates prejudice. Kennedy, supra; Roberts, supra; Strickland, supra. In any event, because the instructions were proper, the failure to object did not constitute a serious and deficiency, measurably below the standard of substantial competent counsel. Gorham, supra. See also, Young v. State, 16 F.L.W. 192 (Fla. February 28, 1991). Neither a hearing nor relief was warranted.

In Argument X, Mendyk alleges that he was left in leg shackles during the penalty phase of his trial in the presence of

- 20 -

the jury and that this violated due process, and that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to this fundamental error (IB 68-70). This argument was presented as Claim XI in Mendyk's motion for post conviction relief (PC 115-20), which also contained the one sentence allegation that counsel's failure to object was deficient performance that prejudiced Mendyk (PC 120). The trial court found this claim procedurally barred and that Mendyk's conclusory allegation that counsel was ineffective was legally insufficient (PC 1355). This ruling is correct.

This is a claim which could and should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. Medina, supra; Swafford, supra; Correll, supra; Buenoano, supra. Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 250 (11th Cir. 1987), having been decided before this case and also being the decision of an intermediate federal court, breathes no new vitality into this claim. See, Witt, supra. Likewise, Bello v. State, 547 So.2d 914 (Fla. 1989), announced no new rule of law to be applied retroactively. Mendyk's attempt to raise this claim cast in the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel is improper and will not revive such claim. Kight, supra.

As the trial court found, Mendyk's one sentence allegation that counsel's performance was deficient is legally insufficient, as he fails to demonstrate how he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to object. *Kennedy, supra; Roberts, supra; Strickland, supra*. Even assuming that Mendyk was in leg irons, he has not and cannot demonstrate that counsel's failure to object affected the outcome. First, Mendyk does not even allege that the jury saw

- 21 -

him, but merely states that he "was left in leg shackles during the penalty phase of his trial in the presence of the jury". The record demonstrates that all parties were already in the courtroom when the jury was escorted in and out (R 1197, 1248, 1267, 1289, 1290). Thus, in order to demonstrate prejudice, Mendyk would have to demonstrate that the shackles were not necessary, the jury saw him in the shackles, was affected by seeing such, that any potential prejudice could not have been cured by action taken at that time, and that if this had not occurred the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Such claim is far to speculative. The trial court properly determined that neither a hearing nor relief was warranted.

In Arguments XI and XII, Mendyk claims that the jury instructions on heinous, atrocious or cruel and cold, calculated and premeditated violated the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments (IB 70-73). Mendyk argued in Claims VI and XIII of his motion for post conviction relief that the jury was improperly instructed on aggravating circumstances (PC 48-58, 138-50), and again included a one sentence allegation that counsel's failure to object was deficient performance which prejudiced him (PC 57). The trial court found that the claim was procedurally barred and that the one sentence allegation of ineffective assistance was legally insufficient (PC 1353). This ruling is correct.

These are claims which this court has consistently found could and should be raised on direct appeal and are thus procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. *Roberts, supra; Swafford, supra; Buenoano, supra; Correll supra.* Mendyk did in fact

challenge the aggravating factors on direct appeal and any argument on this issue should have been raised at that time. Jones v. Dugger, 533 So.2d 290, 292 (Fla. 1988). A procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwise-barred claims in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. Kight, supra. Again, Mendyk's one sentence allegation that counsel was ineffective is legally insufficient. In any event, this court has rejected such claim as to both aggravating circumstances, Smalley v. State, 546 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1989); Brown v. State, 565 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1990), so counsel cannot be deemed ineffective. Since the claim is procedurally barred and the allegation of ineffectiveness is legally insufficient and without merit, the trial court properly determined that neither a hearing nor relief was warranted.

In Argument XIII, Mendyk claims that his death sentence rests upon an unconstitutional automatic aggravating circumstance (IB 73-74). Mendyk raised this as Claim II in his motion for post conviction relief (PC 14-22), and again included a statement that counsel was ineffective for failing to object and he was prejudiced (PC 22). The trial court found the claim procedurally barred, that the allegation of ineffectiveness was insufficient, and that alternatively the claim was without merit (PC 1352). This ruling is correct.

Again, this is an issue which this court has consistently found could and should be raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. Engle v. Dugger, 576 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1991); Roberts, supra; Smith v. Dugger, 565 So.2d 1293 (Fla. 1990); Correll, supra; Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849

(Fla. 1990); Bolender v. Dugger, 564 So.2d 1057 (Fla. 1990); Mills v. Dugger, 559 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1990); Tompkins v. Dugger, 549 So.2d 1370 (Fla. 1990). A procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwise-barred claims in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. Kight, supra. Even if the claim was cognizable relief is not warranted as such claim has previously been rejected by this court, Bertolotti v. State, 534 So.2d 386, 387 n. 3 (Fla. 1988), and the United States Supreme Court has rejected nearly identical claims. Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988); Blystone v. Pennsylvania, 110 S.Ct. 1078 (1990). The trial court's finding of this factor is supported by the evidence and independent of the murder conviction. Engle, supra.

Again, the trial court properly found that Mendyk's one sentence allegation that counsel was ineffective is legally insufficient. Roberts, supra; Kennedy, supra; Strickland, supra. Even if legally sufficient, relief is not warranted as Mendyk cannot demonstrate either deficient performance or prejudice since the underlying substantive claim has been rejected, and counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise a claim that is without merit. Strickland, supra; Gorham, supra. Since the claim is procedurally barred and the allegation of ineffectiveness is legally insufficient and without merit, the trial court properly found that neither a hearing nor relief was warranted.

In Argument XIV, Mendyk claims that the introduction of nonstatutory aggravating factors perverted the sentencing phase of his trial and that counsel's failure to object to this fundamental error was deficient performance (IB 74-76). In Claim X of his motion for post conviction relief Mendyk argued that the introduction of nonstatutory aggravating factors resulted in a capricious sentencing (PC 110-15), and again included a statement that counsel's failure to object prejudiced him (PC 113). The trial court found that this claim was procedurally barred (PC 1354-55). This ruling is correct.

This argument was never raised at trial or on direct appeal. Improper argument on aggravation is an issue that should be raised on direct appeal. *Roberts, supra; Meeks v. State,* 382 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1980). Improper consideration of the same is likewise an argument that should have been raised on direct appeal. *Goode v. State,* 403 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1981): *Dobbert v. State,* 409 So.2d 1053 (Fla. 1982); *Atkins, supra.* Thus, the instant claim is procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. *Henderson v. Dugger,* 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988); *Harich v. State,* 542 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1989). A procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwisebarred claims in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Kight, supra.*

Even if this claim was cognizable it is without merit. Judge Huffstetler's findings of fact in support of imposition of the death penalty reflect that he only found three *statutory* aggravating factors (R 1558-60). This court reviewed the case on direct appeal and found death to be the appropriate penalty, and no allegation has been made that it considered extraneous matter. *Mendyk, supra.* Mendyk's one sentence allegation that counsel was ineffective is legally insufficient. The trial court properly determined that neither an evidentiary hearing nor relief was warranted.

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